1983

Blake Stevens Construction and Hartford Insurance v. Dwinn A. Henion, Mother of Bari Lyn Blair, Daughter of Barry A. Blair, Deceased, and the Industrial Commission Of Utah : Plaintiff's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This Petition is for the review of the Industrial Commission's decision that "average weekly wages" under the Workmen's Compensation Act includes an out-of-town subsistence allowance paid to an employee to cover expenses he would not have incurred but for his employment activities.

DISPOSITION BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

The Application for dependent death benefits under the Workmen's Compensation Act was heard by Administrative Law Judge Timothy C. Allen. Judge Allen awarded dependent death benefits based upon an average weekly wage of \$5.50 per hour for a 35 hour work week and a \$32.50 daily out-of-town subsistence allowance. Plaintiffs filed a Motion to review the inclusion of the subsistence allowance in the average weekly wage. The Industrial Commission denied the Motion.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff's seek a ruling that the "average weekly wage" under the Workmen's Compensation Act does not include an out-of-town subsistence allowance paid to an employee to cover expenses he would not have incurred but for his employment activities. Plaintiffs request that this Court reverse the Industrial Commission's inclusion of this subsistence allowance in the decedent's average weekly wage.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant Dwinn Henion and decedent Barry A. Blair began living together in July, 1981. One month later they learned that she was pregnant. In September, 1981, they became engaged and set their wedding date for March, 1982, two months before their child was expected. This wedding date was later

postponed until after the child's birth so that Ms. Henion could remain single and receive free maternal care. During this time they continued to reside in Salt Lake County. (R. 30, 31, 35, 36, 63, 65).

While they were living together, decedent was employed by Blake Stevens Construction. Until November, 1981, he worked in the Salt Lake Valley Area. In November, 1981, decedent began working on a job in Green River, Wyoming. Since this work was out-of-town, decedent regularly travelled to Green River on Monday and returned home on Friday night. While working in Green River decedent received a \$32.50 per day subsistence allowance in addition to his wage of \$5.50 per hour for a 35 hour work week. On January 14, 1982, decedent was electrocuted while working in Green River. In June, 1982, decedent's posthumous child was born. (R. 29, 47, 65, 66).

The Industrial Commission awarded death benefits to decedent's posthumous child based upon an average weekly wage of \$355 per week. This represents \$192.50 in hourly wages and \$162.50 in subsistence allowance. The plaintiffs challenge

the inclusion of the subsistence allowance in the average weekly wage.¹

ARGUMENT

The Workmen's Compensation Act provides that those who are wholly dependent upon a person who dies as a result of an industrial accident shall receive weekly death benefits of 66-2/3% of the decedent's "average weekly wage" at the time of injury, but no more than 85% of the state average weekly wage at the time of injury. Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-68(2)(b)(i) (1953). The formula for computing the average weekly wage where wages are fixed by the hour is described in Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-75(1)(e) (1953):

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this act, the average weekly wage of the injured employee at the time of the injury shall be taken as the basis upon which to compute the weekly compensation rate and shall be determined as follows:

(e) If at the time of the injury the wages are fixed by the hour, the average weekly wage shall be determined by multiplying the hourly rate by the number of hours the employee would have worked for the week if the accident had not intervened. In no case shall the hourly wage be multiplied by less than 20 for the purpose of determining the weekly wage.

¹The inclusion of the subsistence allowance in computing the average weekly wage provides an additional \$28,080 in benefits over the first six years. (The \$355 average weekly wage qualifies for maximum weekly payments of \$218, while a \$192.50 average weekly wage qualifies for weekly payments of \$128.) If benefits are extended under Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-70 (1953) for more than twelve years, the difference will exceed \$84,000.

POINT I

A SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCE PAID TO AN EMPLOYEE TO COVER EXPENSES HE WOULD NOT HAVE INCURRED BUT FOR EMPLOYMENT ACTIVITIES ARE NOT A PART OF HIS AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGES UNDER THE WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION ACT.

Since dependent death benefits under the Workmen's Compensation Act arise by legislative enactment, whether a subsistence allowance is included in the "average weekly wage" presents a question of statutory construction. In resolving this question, the legislative definition of "average weekly wage" must control. As set out in Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-75, where the wages are fixed by the hour, the average weekly wage "shall be determined" by multiplying the hourly rate by the number of hours that would have been worked during the week of the accident. The decedent's wages at the time of the accident were fixed by the hour. As a matter of law, the Industrial Commission should have determined that the decedent's average weekly wage was \$192.50, the hourly rate of \$5.50 per hour multiplied against the 35 hour work week. Since the statutory formula does not include a subsistence allowance for out-of-town work, its inclusion in the average weekly wage by the Industrial Commission was error.

This conclusion is not only mandated by the statutory formula established by the legislature, but is also compelled by the formula's legislative history, the meaning of wages

and subsistence allowances, and the policy of the Workmens' Compensation Act.

A. The Legislative History of § 35-1-75 Demonstrates A Rejection Of The Industrial Commission's Definition.

The present § 35-1-75 was enacted in 1971. 1971 Utah Laws ch. 76, § 10. It was modeled after § 19 of the "Workmen's Compensation and Rehabilitation Law" proposed by The Council of State Governments through its Committee on Suggested State Legislation. See "Workmen's Compensation and Rehabilitation Law (Revised)" published in July, 1974 by the Council of State Governments. As noted by Professor Larson, this section is somewhat different from the common wage-basis statute and is an attempt to anticipate controversies under the common statutes. 2 A. Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation (1981). § 60.11(a), footnote 77.

One of the controversies anticipated by the Council was whether the reasonable value of board, room, rent, housing, lodging, fuel and similar advantages would be a part of average weekly wages. The Council proposed that "wages" means:

[I]n addition to money payments for services rendered, the reasonable value of board, rent, housing, lodging, fuel or similar advantage received from the employer, and gratuities received in the course of employment from others than the employer. § 2(n), Workmens Compensation and Rehabilitation Law.

In enacting § 35-1-75, the Utah Legislature did not choose to adopt the Council's recommended definition. In-

stead, our legislature made the hourly rate, in this case, the controlling factor. The Industrial Commission's redefining of "average weekly wages" to include what the legislature rejected is improper.

B. The Meaning Of Wages Is Entirely Different From That Of A Subsistence Allowance.

As commonly understood, wages are "money paid or received for work or services, as by the hour, day or week." The Random House Dictionary of The English Language (1967). In Utah Code Ann. § 34-28-2(2), the legislature adopted a similar definition in establishing the law governing the payment of wages by employers:

The word "wages" means all amounts due the employee for labor or services, whether the amount is fixed or ascertained on a time, task, piece, commission basis or other method of calculating such amount.

The same definition was used by the legislature in establishing wages as a preferred debt. Utah Code Ann. § 34-26-4. In all instances, the underlying nature of wages is monetary remuneration for labor or services.

In contrast, a subsistence allowance is money paid in addition to wages "to cover expenses [an employee] may incur in performing his job." The Random House Dictionary of The English Language (1967). Although both wages and subsistence allowances are an employer's cost of doing business, the similarity ends there. A subsistence allowance is not re-

muneration for labor or services but rather payment to cover employee expenses incurred because of the work. So long as the employee works, he receives wages. However, he only receives a subsistence allowance so long as he incurs special expenses because of the work.

In this case the decedent was earning wages of \$5.50 per hour. At his employer's direction, he began working in Green River, Wyoming for a time. Since commuting from his home in Salt Lake to Green River was impracticable, he would leave for Green River on Monday and return home on Friday night. Because his work in Green River required him to incur lodging, meal and travel expenses he would not have otherwise incurred, he was paid a \$32.50 daily subsistence allowance to cover, at least in part, these expenses. To say that this subsistence allowance represented remuneration for labor subverts the meaning of wages.

C. The Policy Of The Workmen's Compensation Act Prohibits Including A Subsistence Allowance In Average Weekly Wages.

The underlying policy of the Workmen's Compensation Act is to assure an employee and his dependents certain compensation, medical and disability benefits for industrial accidents without undue expense, delay or uncertainty. State Tax Commission v. Department of Finance, 576 P.2d 1297 (Utah 1982). When an employee dies in an industrial accident, the

regulation has determined that his family should receive a percentage of what the employee would have been expected to receive in wages had he not died, all according to a strict formula. It was never intended that these benefits represent anything more.

When the Industrial Commission included the subsistence allowance in its award, the decedent's dependent benefited by \$28,080 over six years. Had he not died, the decedent would not have had this amount available for the care of his dependent. Even assuming that his out-of-town work would have continued that long, he would have been required to spend the subsistence allowance on expenses incurred because of his employment. Thus, including the subsistence allowance in the average weekly wage is nothing more than a windfall.

The windfall nature of including the subsistence allowance in average weekly wages is illustrated by a hypothetical. Suppose that the decedent was still being paid \$5.50 per hour and given a \$32.50 daily subsistence allowance for out-of-town work. Working with him was a co-employee who was also paid \$5.50 per hour. However, since this co-employee lived near the worksite, he was not paid a subsistence allowance. If both died in the same industrial accident, the co-employee's dependents would receive \$28,080 less in benefits, although the work and wages of both would have been the

same. Yet because the decedent was incurring employment related expenses for which he was being reimbursed and which would no longer be incurred, his dependent would receive a substantially greater benefit.

Such a result was not the intent of the legislature. According to legislative policy, the hourly wage without the subsistence allowance represents what the decedent would have been expected to receive had he not died.

POINT II

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION'S RATIONALE FOR ALLOWING DEATH BENEFITS BASED ON A SUBSISTENCE ALLOWANCE IGNORES STATUTORY MANDATE, MISCONSTRUES THE CONCEPT OF ROOM AND BOARD AND MISAPPLIES THE CONCEPT OF REAL ECONOMIC GAIN.

In denying the Motion for Review on the issue of the subsistence allowance, the Industrial Commission offered this rationale:

With regard to the inclusion of the daily subsistence allowance as a part of the decedent's wage, we are of the opinion that the Administrative Law Judge made the correct decision. Professor Larsen [sic] in his treatise The Law of Workmen's Compensation, Section 60-12(a), cites with approval the inclusion of room and board as a portion of wages on the basis that it constitutes a real economic gain to the employee. This has long been the policy of the Commission and we see no reason to change it now.

Plaintiffs submit that this rationale is deficient for three reasons. First, it ignores the formula mandated by

statute. Second, it misconstrues the concept of room and board. And third, it misapplies the concept of real economic gain. Before addressing each of these points, it should be observed that whether "this has long been the policy of the Commission" is irrelevant. The statute, not the Commission's policy, governs. Like the Commission's long standing policy of regulating hospital fees which was struck down by this Court in Intermountain Health Care v. Industrial Commission, 657 P.2d 1289 (Utah 1982), this policy must be struck down as contrary to law regardless of Commission policy.

A. In Awarding Death Benefits Based Upon A Subsistence Allowance, The Industrial Commission Ignored The Formula Mandated By The Legislature.

Since workmen's compensation benefits arise by legislative decree, they are only so broad as the legislative mandate provides. Thus the proper place to begin an inquiry as to the scope of benefits is the language of the statute. As previously discussed, under § 35-1-75, wages do not include a subsistence allowance for out-of-town employment. Regardless what reasons the Industrial Commission may have for wanting to change this law, they are duty bound to follow, not ignore it.

Not only has the Industrial Commission failed to consider the statutory mandate, but it has also failed to recognize that in those states where room and board has been allowed to

the extent of real economic gain, the governing statutes differ from our statute.

In Leatherbury v. Early, 32 N.E.2d 99 (Ind. Ct. App. 1941), the Industrial Board awarded compensation based upon earnings which included room and board at the saw mill where the employee worked. In affirming this award the Court observed that the governing statute defined "average weekly wages" as "earnings of the injured employee in the employment in which he was working at the time of the injury." 32 N.E.2d at 100. The Court went on to note that the statute also contained the following provision for allowances:

Wherever allowances of any character made to an employee in lieu of wages are specified part of the wage contract, they shall be deemed a part of his earnings. 32 N.E.2d at 100.

Since the statute specifically included allowances in lieu of wages and that was the nature of the employee's room and board, the Court concluded that its inclusion in earnings was statutorily mandated.

In Leslie v. Reynolds, 179 Kan. 422, 295 P.2d 1076 (1956), the injured employee was a farm worker who received in lieu of wages a home on the farm, utilities paid, an automobile, and foodstuffs grown on the farm for use by the family. The Commissioner included the money value of these allowances in computing compensation. The governing statute provided:

Whenever in this act the term 'wages' is used it shall be construed to mean the money rate at which the service rendered is recompensed under the contract of hiring in force at the time of the accident, and shall not include gratuities received from the employer or others. Board and lodging when furnished by the employer as part of the wages shall be included and valued at \$5 per week unless the money value of such advantages shall have been otherwise fixed by the parties at the time of hiring. 295 P.2d at 1081.

Based upon this statute the Court determined that the inclusion of room and board was proper to the extent of real economic benefit.

As these two cases illustrate, the proper inquiry is not what other jurisdictions do under different statutes but what § 35-1-75 requires. To do otherwise is to ignore the legislative mandate.

B. Treating The Out-Of-State Subsistence Allowance As Room And Board Misconstrues The Concept Of Room And Board.

In denying the Motion for Review, The Industrial Commission apparently relied on the following statement of Professor Larson:

In computing actual earnings as the beginning point of wage-basis calculations, there should be included not only wages and salary but any thing of value received as consideration for the work, as, for example, tips and bonuses, and room and board, constituting real economic gain to the employee. 2 A. Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, § 60.12(a).

It should be observed that Professor Larson is not discussing the definition of "average weekly wages" but "actual earn-

ings." The distinction is critical since Professor Larson's treatment of this question is based upon the commonest type of workmen's compensation statute which employs the concept of "earnings" not "average weekly wages." Professor Larson has properly observed that this type of statute differs from that employed by Utah. 2 A. Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation, § 60.11(2). In addition, Professor Larson's own statement distinguishes wages from room and board, the former not including the latter in its definition. Thus Professor Larson's statement was not intended to cover the Utah statute and observes that room and board is not commonly understood to be wages.

Even assuming that it were an appropriate interpretation of the Utah statute, it has been misconstrued by the Industrial Commission. In addressing the issue of whether an out-of-town subsistence allowance is wages, the Industrial Commission uncritically equated an out-of-town subsistence allowance with room and board. Such a conclusion is unwarranted.

In footnote 6 to the above-quoted statement, Professor Larson cites various cases for the proposition that room and board represents actual earnings. A review of those cases demonstrates that Professor Larson is referring to the provision of room and board in lieu of wages, much like the

definition statute in Leatherbury, supra. For example, in Leatherbury v. Industrial Commission, 151 Colo. 538, 379 P.2d 384 (1963), the value of living quarters provided to a motel manager was given in lieu of wages. In Bruno v. 414 W. 23d St. Corp., 12 A.D. 831, 209 N.Y.S.2d 620 (1961), a building superintendent's rent free apartment was given in lieu of wages and therefore a part of the compensation award. And in Hall v. Joiner, 324 So.2d 884 (La. App. 1975), an apartment manager received a rent free apartment in lieu of wages which was properly categorized as earnings.

Unlike the cases cited by Professor Larson, the decedent here received his regular wage while working in Green River. The out-of-town subsistence allowance was not given to cover expenses unrelated to employment but rather expenses that would not have been incurred but for the out-of-town employment. They were not given in lieu of wages. To say that they were misconstrues the statement of Professor Larson.

C. Including the Out-of-Town Subsistence Allowance as Average Weekly Wages Misapplies the Concept of Real Economic Gain.

Again considering the statement of Professor Larson upon which the Industrial Commission apparently relied and assuming that an out-of-town subsistence allowance can be equated to room and board, it still cannot be included in average weekly wages since it fails to "constitute real

economic gain to the employee." This point is illustrated by reviewing several representative cases where it was held that a subsistence allowance was not real economic gain to an employee.

In Layne Atlantic Company v. Scott, 415 So.2d 837 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1982), the employee received allowances for out-of-town expenses. The statutory definition of wages included "the reasonable value of board, rent, housing, lodging or similar advantage received from the employer." The Court held that such advantages could only be included to the extent of real economic gain. The Court went on to observe that the out-of-town expenses ended with employment and concluded:

In short, we cannot construe the term "wages" to include a make-whole reimbursement for uniquely work-related expenses that are created by and within the employment. 415 So.2d at 839.

On this basis the Court reversed the deputy commissioner and remanded for a redetermination of wages without the out-of-town expense allowance.

In Moorehead v. Industrial Commission, 17 Ariz. App. 96, 495 P.2d 866 (1972), the employee received a travel allowance for out-of-town work. The Industrial Commission refused to include this allowance in the compensation award which action was affirmed. In finding no real economic gain to the employee the Court stated:

"[W]ages" do not include amounts paid to the employee to reimburse him for employment-related expenditures of a nature which would not be incurred but for his employment. Such payments are simply not intended as compensation for services rendered. 495 P.2d at 869.

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