## **Brigham Young University Law School**

## **BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1983

Blake Stevens Construction and Hartford Insurance v. Dwinn A. Henion, Mother of Bari Lyn Blair, Daughter of Barry A. Blair, Deceased, and the Industrial Commission Of Utah: Brief of Defendants

## NATURE OF THE CASE

A petition was filed by Blake Stevens Construction Company and Hartford Insurance Company, defendants below, for a review of the finding of the Industrial Commission of the average weekly wage of Barry A. Blair who died as a result of an accident in the course of his employment for Blake Stevens Construction Company.

## DISPOSITION BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

After a hearing on the denial by the plaintiffs of Liability for death benefits to the afterborn daughter of the leceased, Administrative Law Judge Timothy C. Allen found that the benedant's average weekly wage at the time of his death was .00 per week and that his daughter was entitled to benefits

based upon those earnings. The plaintiffs filed a Motion toric contesting the inclusion in the calcuation of the deceased's average weekly wage of amounts paid to him for living expenses. The Industrial Commission affirmed Judge Allen's finding in a unanimous decision.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendant requests that the court affirm the Industrial Commission's order.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The defendant accepts as accurate the plaintiffs' summory of the facts with the additional statement that the evidence upon which the Commission based its findings both as to the paternity of the minor applicant and the earnings of the deceased was uncontracted in every respect. (R27-47).

#### POINT I

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION IS AUTH-ORIZED BY LAW TO INCLUDE PAYMENTS TO A WORKER FOR LIVING EXPENSES IN ITS CALCULATION OF HIS AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE.

The Supreme Court, in reviewing acts of the Industrial Commission, is limited to a determination of whether the Commission as exceeded its powers or disregarded some positive provision of law in making or denying an award. <u>Utah Consol. Mining Co. 2.</u>

<u>Industrial Commission</u>, 66 Utah 173, 240 Pac. 440 (1925).

The issue raised by this petition is whether the Industi Commission was authorized to consider evidence of payments to the deceased by his employer for living expenses as well as paraments for his hourly wage in making its finding of his . There weekly wage" within the meaning of the Compensation Act.

Section 35-1-75 Utah Code Ann. (Replacement Volume 4B 13E1 locket Supplement) provides the basis for computing a worker's average weekly wage which, in turn, determines the rate at which workmen's compensation benefits are payable to his dependents in the event of his death by industrial accident.

- 35-1-75. Average weekly wage Basis of computation. (1) Except as otherwise provided in this act, the average weekly wage of the injured employee at the time of the injury shall be taken as the basis upon which to compute the weekly compensation rate and shall be determined as follows:
- (a) If at the time of the injury the wages are fixed by the year, the average weekly wage shall be that yearly wage divided by 52.
- (b) If at the time of the injury the wages are fixed by the month, the average weekly wage shall be that monthly wage divided by 4 1/3.
- (c) If at the time of the injury the wages are fixed by the week, that amount shall be the average weekly wage.
- (d) If at the time of the injury the wages are fixed by the date, the weekly wage shall be determined by multiplying the daily wage by the number of days and fraction of days in the week during which the employee under a contract of hire was working at the time of the accident, or would have worked if the accident had not intervened. In no case shall the daily wage be multiplied by less than three for the purpose of determining the weekly wage.
- (e) If at the time of the injury the wages are fixed by the hour, the average weekly wage shall be determined by multiplying the hourly rate

by the number of hours the employee would have worked for the week if the accident had not intervened. In no case shall the hourly wage be multiplied by less than 20 for the purpose of determining the weekly wage.

- (f) If at the time of the injury the hourly wage has not been fixed or cannot be ascertained, the wage for the purpose of calculating compensation shall be the usual wage for similar services where those services are rendered by paid employees.
- (g)(l) If at the time of the injury the wages are fixed by the output of the employee, the average weekly wage shall be the wage most favorable to the employee computed by dividing by thirteen the wages, not including overtime or premium pay, of the employee earned through that employer in the first, second, third, or fourth period of thirteen consecutive calendar weeks in the 52 weeks immediately preceding the injury.
- (2) If the employee has been employed by that employer less than thirteen calendar weeks immediately preceding the injury, his average weekly wage shall be computed as under subsection (1)(g)(1), presuming the wages, not including overtime or premium pay, to be the amount he would have earned had he been so employed for the full thirteen calendar weeks immediately preceding the injury and had worked, when work was available to other employees, in a similar occupation.
- (3) If none of the methods in subsection
  (1) will fairly determine the average weekly wage in a particular case, the commission shall use such other method as will, based on the facts presented, fairly determine the employee's average weekly wage.
- (4) When the average weekly wage of the injur employee at the time of the injury is determined as in this section provided, it shall be taken as the basis upon which to compute the weekly compensation rate. After the weekly compensation has been computed, it shall be rounded to the nearest dollar.

This Court has recently construed Section 75 of the constituent Act with particular reference to the authority conferred upon the Commission by subsection (3). In Craig

Burnham Produce v. Industrial Commission, Utah Sup.Ct. No. 17968

(January 24, 1983) the employer sought reversal of an award by the Commission which was based upon a calculation of his employee's average weekly wage which included his earnings from a separate part-time job. The plaintiffs argued that Section 75 of the act conferred no express authority upon the Commission to combine earnings from two employers and that the Commission was therefore limited in its authority to multiplying the employee's hourly wage in his employment at the moment of injury by the number of hours he worked on that job in accordance with subsection (e).

This Court rejected the employer's narrow construction of the Industrial Commission's statutory authority. Justice Hall explained that the Legislature intended by subsection (3) to give the Commission broad authority to use "methods over and above those specified in subsection (1) as will permit it to fairly determine the injured employee's weekly wage". Burnham v. Industrial Commission, supra. The Court's analysis of the question in Burnham suggests that the Industrial Commission's determination of what is tair will not be disturbed unless its method of computation is contrary to the express provisions of the statute or unless the result is incompatible with the underlying purpose of the parkmen's Compensation Act.

A. THE COMMISSION'S FINDING IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH ANY SPECIFIC PROVISION OF THE COMP-ENSATION ACT.

The plaintiffs argue that the Commission's consideration of subsistence payments in making its average weekly wage finding is inconsistent with Utah law because a specific provision allow such payments to be regarded as wages which is part of a model compensation act is not found in the Utah act and because the definition of the word "wages" in the Wage Claim Act, Utah Code Anno. Sec. 34-28-2(2) (Replacement Volume 4B 1974), et seq. does not expressly include payments for living expenses.

A related argument was made by the employer in <u>Burnham v. Industrial Commission</u>, <u>supra</u>, as noted, and was rejected by this Court. Unless there is an express <u>prohibition</u> on the manner of calculation employed, the question is simply whether the Commission could lawfully employ such a method under subsection (3).

Furthermore, there is nothing in the legislative histor of Section 75 which remotly implies, as plaintiffs suggest, that the Utah Legislature intended to exclude living expenses from the statutory definition of wages in the Compensation Act. The plaintiffs state that Section 75 of the Utah act is "modeled after" Section 19 of the proposed "Workmen's Compensation and Rehabilitation Law" drafted by the Council on State Governments. That provision is set forth along with the Section 75 in Appendance "A". However, a comparison of the two reveals more differences

Hom Similarities.

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the model act provides

First, it is obvious that the average weekly

Wall that provides application applicati

Furthermore, the wage definition which plaintiffs contend our Legislature deliberately omitted from the Utah act is not found in Section 19 of the model act but is one of twenty-five definitions in Section 2 of the suggested legislation. The definition section of the Utah Compensation Act, Utah Code Ann., Section 35-1-44, (Replacement Volume 4B, 1974), contains only eight definitions and bears no relationship to the model act. Significantly, the Utah act at Section 44(8) defines "average weekly earnings" simply as "the average weekly earnings arrived at by the rules provided in Section 35-1-75".

If any conclusion about the Legislature's intention is pustified by a comparison of the two acts, it is that our Legislature disavowed any attempt to address all the situations in which the wage determination might involve peculiar considerations in factor of a broad grant of discretion to the Industrial Commission to the industrial calculation methods consistent with the purpose of the act.

It is also noteworthy that the model act in Section 19 contains a specific provision requiring that wages from two prior be combined which is, of course, absent from the Utah act. The plaintiffs'view that the omission from the Utah act of a manditory calculation provision in the model act reflects a legislative intent to prohibit the Commission from employing such a method would foreclose the result reached by this Court in Burnham.

Plaintiffs next contend that the definition of the term "wages" in Sec. 34-28-2(2) Utah Code Ann. (Replacement Volume 42 1974) which applies to the Wage Claims Act substantiates their position that payments for living expenses are not wages. In pertinent part, that section states that

The word "wages" means all amounts due the employee for labor or services . . .

Given our Legislature's specific provision that "wages" in the Compensation Act are to be calculated and defined by the formula set out in Section 75, it seems minimally useful to examine definitions of the term found elsewhere in the code which are expressly limited in their application to other chapters. The defendants submit, however, that the definition of wages relion, "amounts due . . . for labor or services . . ." does not exclude payments for living expenses. If an employer agreed to pay an employee a specific amount for living expenses in retifor his labor and services and then refused to do so, the defen

majorest that these unpaid amounts would indeed qualify as "wages"

than the meaning of the Wage Claims Act and that an action to

The Industrial Commission is not prohibited from including living expenses in its calculation of a worker's average weekly wage nor is there any indication that the Legislature intended that such earnings not be considered.

B. THE INCLUSION OF LIVING EXPENSES
IN AVERAGE WEEKLY WAGE CALCULATIONS IS
A REASONABLE EXERCISE OF DISCRETION
BY THE COMMISSION IN KEEPING WITH
THE PURPOSE OF THE ACT.

If more than one inference or conclusion can reasonably be drawn from the evidence, it is not the Supreme Court's perogative to direct which one the Commission should chose. Pace v Industrial Commission, 87 Utah 6, 47 P.2d 1050 (1935). Similarly, when this Court is reviewing an exercise by the Commission of discretion committed to it by the Legislature to adopt the wage calculation method it deems fairest in a particular case, the Supreme Court is not called upon to substitute its judgment for that of the Commission but simply to decide whether the Commission abused its discretion, e.g., Probst v. Industrial Commission, 588 P.2d 717 (Utah 1978).

It is the nearly unanimous rule in other jurisdictions that payments made to an employee by his employer for living expenses in the form of free room or board, or fixed amounts to the those costs, when they are understood by the parties to constitute part of the consideration given for an employee's

services, are to be included in the calculation of his wages for compensation purposes, 2A Larson The Law of Workmen's Compensation, Sec. 60.12; 82 Am Jur. 2d. "Workmen's Compensation." Sec. 372.

The plaintiffs correctly note that the legislatures of many states have expressly provided that the value of board, rent, housing, etc. when given to a worker by his employer are part of his wages, <a href="Jess Parrish Memorial Hospital v. Ansill">Jess Parrish Memorial Hospital v. Ansill</a>, 390 So. 2d. 1201 (Fla. App. 1980); <a href="Waldroupe v. Kelly">Waldroupe v. Kelly</a>, 189 Kan.99, 367 P.2d 77(1961); <a href="H.J. Heinz Co. v. Wood">H.J. Heinz Co. v. Wood</a>, 181 Okl. 389,74 P.2d 353 (1937); <a href="Parrish v. Industrial Commission">Parrish v. Industrial Commission</a>, 15 Colo. 2d. 538, 379 P.2d 384 (1963), but they contended that because the question has so often been resolved legislatively, reference to the law of other jurisdictions does not aid the Court in this review. However the prevalance of statutes resolving this issue in the same manner as did the Commission, the body which under our law was given the discretion to do so, actually reflects the reasonableness of its determination.

Furthermore, it is the general rule in jurisdictions without such express provisions to include living expenses or the value of room and board in claulcation of average wages.

For example, the Supreme Court of Arizona in Matlock v. Industrial Commission, 70 Ariz. 25, 215 P.2d 612 (1950) held that the actual value of housing and food provided to a ranch hand should be added to his salary to compute is average wage. The courts of Louisian have long held that when an employer provides lodging or meals to

remainded as part of his average wages. Morgan v. Equitable deneral Insurance Co., 383 So. 2d 1067 (La. App. 1980), Ardven v. Southern Farm Bureau Casualty Ins. Co., 134 So. 2d 323 (La. App. 1961); also, Bannister v. Shepherd, 191 S.C. 165, 4 S.E. 2d 7 (1939).

The plaintiffs make much of the fact that the employer in this case paid the deceased's living expenses when he was required to work out of town but not when he was able to live at home and argue that such a case should be distinguished from one where an employer provides or pays for lodging or meals throughout the year. Assuming that it is within the Industrial Commission's power to include payments for living expenses in the average wage calculation, however, there is no basis in logic nor in the policy of the law for requiring it to make such a distinction.

In states which have adopted a rule that payments for living expenses are part of a worker's wages, those payments are typically included even if they are only made when a person is away from his home eating in restaurants and lodging in hotels as in Cosgriff v. Duluth Firemen's Relief Ass'n., 233 Minn. 233, 46 N.W. 2d 250 (1951) and American Surety of New York v. Underwood, 4 J.W. 2d 551 (Tex. Civ. App. 1934). The latter case involved a transferring salesman who was reimbursed for out of pocket expenses to took and hotels while on the road even though he lived at

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